























indirectly, by the use of a means and instrumentality of interstate commerce, and of the mails and
of a facility of a national securities exchange, would and did use and employ, in connection with
the purchase and sale of a security, a manipulative and deceptive device and contrivance, in
violation of Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, by: (a) employing a device,
scheme, and artifice to defraud; (b) making an untrue statement of a material fact and omitting to
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaging in an act, practice,
and course of business which operated and would operate as a fraud and deceit upon a person , in
violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal
Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, to wit, GOGLIORMELLA, LACAJ, IBRAHIM, and others
working at their direction, made false and misleading statements to investors about L & G’s and
Legend’s operations, and the extent to which investor funds were used to compensate the
defendants and their agents, and concealed the involvement of GORGLIORMELLA and
IBRAHIM in managing L. & G and Legend.

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff and
Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.)

COUNT THREE
(Wire Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:

17.  The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 14 of this Indictment are
repeated and realleged as if fully set forth herein.

18. From at least in or about 2019 through in or about October 2022, in the Southern
District of New York and elsewhere, MARIO GOGLIORMELLA, STEVEN LACAJ, and

KARIM IBRAHIM, a/k/a “Chris Hayes,” the defendants, knowingly having devised and intending
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